ACTA UNIVERSITATIS AGRICULTURAE SUECIAE

VETERINARIA 28



Sperm Distribution in the Porcine Oviduct in Relation to Spontaneous Ovulation and Stress

Jane Njambi Mburu

SWEDISH UNIVERSITY OF AGRICULTURAL SCIENCES



Sperm distribution in the porcine oviduct in relation to spontaneous ovulation and stress.

Jane Njambi Mburu

Akademisk avhandling som med tillstånd av veterinärmedicinska fakulteten vid SLU för avläggande av veterinärmedicine doktorsexamen, offentligen försvaras på engelska språket i Ettans föreläsningssal, Klinikcentrum, Uppsala, Fredagen den 12 december, kl 9.15.

Av fakultetsnämnden utsedd opponent: Professor Dr Karl F. Weitze, Klinik für Andrologie und Besamung der Haustiere, Institut für Reprod.medizin, Tierärtzl. Hochschule, Bünteweg 15, D-30559, Hannover, Germany.

Abstract

Due to the long interval from onset of standing oestrus to ovulation in the pig, a reservoir is needed in which spermatozoa can be stored prior to ovulation.

The main objectives of the work described in this thesis were to i) determine whether it would be possible to use information from a previous oestrus to predict the time of ovulation in the next oestrus, ii) investigate how sperm distribution and membrane integrity of spermatozoa present in the utero-tubal junction (UTJ) and isthmus, are affected by ovulation, iii) examine changes in morphology and localisation of spermatozoa in vasculary perfusion-fixed UTJ and isthmus around ovulation, iv) study the effects of food deprivation during the post-ovulatory period on cleavage rate, numbers of accessory spermatozoa in the zona pellucida and hormonal profiles in multiparous sows.

In the 44 multiparous sows studied ovulation was determined by transrectal ultrasonography. Time lapsed from onset of standing oestrus to ovulation in two consecutive oestruses did not differ significantly. Ovulation during the second oestrus after weaning could therefore be predicted using the onset of standing oestrus as a reference point.

The sows were inseminated with neat semen 18 h prior to expected ovulation. The distribution pattern, number and viability of spermatozoa in the UTJ and isthmus were related to ovulation in flushed and fixed oviducts. Sperm numbers diminished gradually along a gradient from UTJ to the isthmus during the pre-ovulatory period. Ovulation reduced the numbers of viable spermatozoa in the UTJ and isthmus, and was related to the relocation of spermatozoa and reduction of intraluminal fluid masses. Scanning electron microscopy revealed the presence of two populations of spermatozoa in the reservoir, one with epithelial contact and the other without. Transmission electron microscopy studies showed that spermatozoa attached to the epithelium had intact plasma membranes prior to ovulation, whereas they were broken afterwards.

Food deprivation for about 48 h, starting immediately after ovulation, reduced the numbers of viable spermatozoa in the UTJ and isthmus, measured indirectly by counting the numbers of accessory spermatozoa in the zona pellucida, and lowered the cleavage rate of fertilized ova recovered at a mean of 79 ± 3.4 h after ovulation. During the period of food deprivation, plasma levels of insulin were low, while those of cortisol, progesterone and prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ metabolite (PG-metabolite) were elevated. Thus, food deprivation was associated with changes in the secretion of metabolic and reproductive hormones, which might have modulated the oviductal environment affecting the embryos as well as the spermatozoa in the oviduct.

Key words: oestrus, ovulation ultrasonography, utero-tubal junction, isthmus, sperm distribution, membrane integrity, ultrastructure, embryo development, food deprivation, sow.

Distribution: Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology S-750 07 UPPSALA, Sweden

Uppsala 1997 ISSN 1401-6257 ISBN 91-576-5426-3

Sperm Distribution in the Porcine Oviduct in Relation to Spontaneous Ovulation and Stress

Jane Njambi Mburu Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Uppsala

Doctoral thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 1997

Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae Veterinaria 28

ISSN 1401-6257 ISBN 91-576-5426-3 © 1997 Jane Njambi Mburu, Uppsala Tryck: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 1997 You gave me your shield of victory, and your right hand sustains me. Psa, 18:35

.

To Sarah, Ken, Susie and Tony

Abstract

Mburu, J. N. 1997. Sperm distribution in the porcine oviduct in relation to spontaneous ovulation and stress. Doctor's dissertation. ISSN 1401-6257, ISBN 91-576-5426-3

Due to the long interval from onset of standing oestrus to ovulation in the pig, a reservoir is needed in which spermatozoa can be stored prior to ovulation.

The main objectives of the work described in this thesis were to i) determine whether it would be possible to use information from a previous oestrus to predict the time of ovulation in the next oestrus, ii) investigate how sperm distribution and membrane integrity of spermatozoa present in the utero-tubal junction (UTJ) and isthmus, are affected by ovulation, iii) examine changes in morphology and localisation of spermatozoa in vasculary perfusion-fixed UTJ and isthmus around ovulation, iv) study the effects of food deprivation during the post-ovulatory period on cleavage rate, numbers of accessory spermatozoa in the zona pellucida and hormonal profiles in multiparous sows.

In the 44 multiparous sows studied ovulation was determined by transrectal ultrasonography. Time lapsed from onset of standing oestrus to ovulation in two consecutive oestruses did not differ significantly. Ovulation during the second oestrus after weaning could therefore be predicted using the onset of standing oestrus as a reference point.

The sows were inseminated with neat semen 18 h prior to expected ovulation. The distribution pattern, number and viability of spermatozoa in the UTJ and isthmus were related to ovulation in flushed and fixed oviducts. Sperm numbers diminished gradually along a gradient from UTJ to the isthmus during the pre-ovulatory period. Ovulation reduced the numbers of viable spermatozoa in the UTJ and isthmus, and was related to the relocation of spermatozoa and reduction of intraluminal fluid masses. Scanning electron microscopy revealed the presence of two populations of spermatozoa in the reservoir, one with epithelial contact and the other without. Transmission electron microscopy studies showed that spermatozoa attached to the epithelium had intact plasma membranes prior to ovulation, whereas they were broken afterwards.

Food deprivation for about 48 h, starting immediately after ovulation, reduced the numbers of viable spermatozoa in the UTJ and isthmus, measured indirectly by counting the numbers of accessory spermatozoa in the zona pellucida, and lowered the cleavage rate of fertilized ova recovered at a mean of 79 ± 3.4 h after ovulation. During the period of food deprivation, plasma levels of insulin were low, while those of cortisol, progesterone and prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ metabolite (PG-metabolite) were elevated. Thus, food deprivation was associated with changes in the secretion of metabolic and reproductive hormones, which might have modulated the oviductal environment affecting the embryos as well as the spermatozoa in the oviduct.

Key words: oestrus, ovulation ultrasonography, utero-tubal junction, isthmus, sperm distribution, membrane integrity, ultrastructure, embryo development, food deprivation, sow.

Author's address: Jane Njambi Mburu, Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, SLU, S-750 07 UPPSALA, Sweden.

Contents

Introduction, 11

Aims of the study, 13

Materials and Methods, 14

Animals and general management, 14 Clinical investigations, 14 Oestrus detection, 14 Blood collection and insemination, 14 Handling of blood samples, 15 Hormone analysis, 15 Morphological investigations, 15

Determination of sperm numbers and membrane integrity by electron microscopy, 16

Statistical analyses, 16

Results, 17

Oestrus/oestrous symptoms, hormonal changes and their relationships to ovulation (paper I), 17

Oestrus/oestrous symptoms and ovulation during two consecutive oestruses, 17

Distribution and number of spermatozoa in flushed and fixed oviducts (papers II and III), 17

Morphology of epithelial lining and location of spermatozoa, 18

Sperm plasma membrane integrity as studied with fluorochrome dyes, scanning electron microscopy (SEM) and transmission electron microscopy (TEM), 18

Recovery and cleavage rate of ova, numbers of spermatozoa in the zona pellucida (paper IV), 19

Peri-ovulatory changes in reproductive and metabolic hormones during food deprivation, 19

General discussion, 20

Oestrus/oestrous symptoms, hormonal changes and their relationships to ovulation, 20

Oestrus/oestrous symptoms and ovulation during two consecutive oestruses, 21

Distribution and number of spermatozoa in flushed and fixed oviducts (papers II and III), 21

Morphology of epithelial lining and location of spermatozoa, 23

Sperm plasma membrane integrity as studied with fluorochrome dyes, scanning electron microscopy (SEM) and transmission electron microscopy (TEM), 24

Recovery and cleavage rates of ova, numbers of spermatozoa in the zona pellucida, 25

Peri-ovulatory changes in reproductive and metabolic hormones during food deprivation, 26

General conclusions, 29

Acknowledgements, 30

References, 34

Appendix

Papers I - IV:

The present thesis is based on the following papers, which will be referred to by their Roman numerals.

- I. Mburu, J. N., S. Einarsson, A-M. Dalin and H. Rodriguez-Martinez, 1995: Ovulation as determined by transrectal ultrasonography in multiparous sows: Relationships with oestrous symptoms and hormonal profiles. J. Vet. Med. A 42, 285-292.
- II. Mburu, J. N., S. Einarsson, N. Lundeheim and H. Rodriguez-Martinez, 1996: Distribution, number and membrane integrity of spermatozoa in the pig oviduct in relation to spontaneous ovulation. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 45, 109-121.
- III. Mburu, J. N., H. Rodriguez-Martinez and S. Einarsson, 1997: Changes in sperm ultrastructure and localisation in the porcine oviduct around ovulation. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 47, 137-148.
- IV: Mburu, J. N., S. Einarsson, H. Kindahl, A. Madej and H. Rodriguez-Martinez, 1997: Effects of post-ovulatory food deprivation on oviductal sperm concentration, embryo development and hormonal profiles in the pig. Manuscript.

Offprints are published with the kind permission of the journals concerned.

Introduction

Transrectal ultrasonography has been found to be a highly suitable non-surgical method for studying follicular development and, possibly, for determining the moment of ovulation (Soede et al., 1991; 1992). In a study of the oestrous cycle in the sow in which hormonal patterns were related to ovarian activity detected by transrectal ultrasonography, ovulation was shown to consistently take place about seven-tenths of the way through the total standing oestrus (Soede et., al. 1994).

The interval between the onset of oestrus and ovulation is longer in the pig than in several other domestic animals. In the pig, billions of spermatozoa enter the female reproductive tract during mating or artificial insemination. However, out of those billions of spermatozoa, only a few thousand reach the lower oviduct and even fewer reach the fertilisation site.

A sperm reservoir in the pig develops in the utero-tubal junction (UTJ) and the aduterine segment of the isthmus during the long pre-ovulatory oestrus (Viring et al., 1980; Hunter, 1981; 1984) where spermatozoa maintain a normal ultrastructure (Rodriguez-Martinez et al., 1990). Similar sperm reservoirs have been described in rabbit (Overstreet et al., 1978), sheep (Hunter et al., 1980), cow (Hunter and Wilmut, 1984), hamster (Smith et al., 1987), mice (Suarez, 1987) and guinea pigs (Yanagimachi, 1976). In these species spermatozoa are stored in the reservoir until just before ovulation when they move towards the ampulla, where fertilisation takes place. The reservoir is also important in regulating the number of ascending spermatozoa, thereby reducing the numbers reaching the fertilisation site (Thibault, 1973). As a result the number of spermatozoa interacting with the oocyte is limited, thus helping to avoid polyspermy (Hunter and Leglise, 1971; Hunter and Nichol, 1988; Hunter, 1991). It has been thought that the reservoir provides a favourable environment for sperm capacitation (Hunter and Hall, 1974; Ellington et al., 1993). In vitro studies with bovine frozen-thawed spermatozoa and oviductal epithelial cells led to a suggestion by Pollard et al. (1991) that the oviduct not only stores spermatozoa but also maintains their viability and fertilising capacity before ovulation.

Some characteristics of the UTJ and lower isthmus suggested to facilitate their function as a reservoir, include the ability of their epithelium to bind spermatozoa and the presence of pre-ovulatory mucous material that entraps the spermatozoa (Raychoudhury and Suarez 1991). However, some studies suggest that spermatozoa are sequestered in the reservoir merely because it is the first oviductal region they encounter (Lefebvre et al., 1995). The fact that spermatozoa attach to the oviductal epithelium has been revealed by translumination of excised whole oviducts in hamster (Katz and Yanagimachi, 1980), in some marsupials (Bedford and Breed, 1994) and mice (Suarez, 1987).

It has been thought that the transport and storage of spermatozoa in the pig oviduct is controlled in part by the local endocrine environment of the oviduct (Hunter et al., 1983; Raychoudhury and Suarez, 1991). Little information is available on the effect of spontaneous ovulation (precisely determined) on the distribution and viability of spermatozoa in the oviduct of the pig.

The distribution of spermatozoa was indirectly assessed through the recovery of ova following surgical post-coital ligation and transection of the distal oviduct, and time of ovulation was not determined before surgery (Hunter, 1984). Based on the results of the latter study it was suggested that ovulation is synchronised with a redistribution of the spermatozoa from the reservoir in the pig.

Adequate information on the interaction between the tubal epithelium and the spermatozoa in the pig is lacking, although Fléchon and Hunter (1981) and Hunter et al. (1987) have studied these events, they estimated that ovulation occurred within a fixed time interval and tissues were fixed by immersion after opening the oviductal lumen with scissors, thereby risking the introduction of artefacts.

Some management practices carried out by farmers include grouping/mixing of sows immediately after mating, which is likely to result in aggressive interactions and a drop in food intake by the more submissive animals (Mendl et al., 1992; Tsuma, 1995). It may also lead to an increased return to service and a reduction in litter size (Bokma, 1990).

Food deprivation during the first trimester leads to pregnancy losses (Anderson, 1975) and can tend to reduce embryo survival (Tsuma et al., 1996). It has been suggested that activation of hypothalamic neuropeptides and modulation of the secretion of the related pituitary hormones could partly explain the food deprivation results (Polkowska, 1996; Maeda and Tsukamura, 1996). Food deprivation in sows around implantation induces an increase in maternal plasma concentrations of cortisol, prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ metabolite (PG-metabolite) and progesterone (P₄) (Tsuma et al., 1996). Although corpora lutea have been demonstrated to be the main source of P_4 in the pregnant pig (Nara et al., 1981). the adrenals have been incriminated as another possible source in food deprived pregnant sows (Tsuma et al., 1996). Administration of ACTH has been shown to result in P₄ production in ovariectomised cows (Bolanos et al., 1997) and increase production in pregnant sows (Tsuma, 1995). Embryo mortality is highest before day 18 of pregnancy (Pope and First, 1985; van der Lende et al., 1994), whereas the early post-mating period has been suggested to be a critical window for nutritional effects on embryo survival (Dyck and Strain, 1983; Jindal et al., 1996). There is little data on the effects of food deprivation during early cleavage in sows where precise time of ovulation is known.

Aims of the study

The aims of this thesis were to:

- record the duration of oestrous symptoms and the blood plasma levels of luteinizing hormone (LH) and oestradiol-17b (E₂) and to relate them to the onset of standing oestrus and ovulation monitored by transrectal ultrasonography.
- determine whether the occurrence of spontaneous ovulation could be predicted during an oestrus using information obtained from the previous oestrus in individual sows.
- characterise any changes in the distribution, quantity and membrane integrity of spermatozoa present in the utero-tubal junction (UTJ) and isthmus that occur in connection with spontaneous ovulation in sows.
- examine changes in morphology and localization of spermatozoa in vascularly perfusion-fixed UTJ and isthmus around ovulation in sows, using scanning and transmission electron microscopy.
- determine the effect of food deprivation during the post-ovulatory period on cleavage rate, numbers of accessory spermatozoa in the zona pellucida and hormonal profiles in multiparous sows.

Materials and Methods

Animals and general management

Forty-four multiparous, crossbred sows (Swedish Landrace x Swedish Yorkshire) were included in the experiments. Twenty-eight out of them were used in the experiments described in papers I. II and III and other 16 were used in experiments covered in paper IV. The sows were brought from a commercial farm to the Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, SLU, on the day of weaning. Throughout the experimental period, they were kept in individual pens with adult boars nearby. The sows were fed a commercial ration in accordance with Swedish breeding stock standards (Göransson, 1984; Simonsson, 1994) i.e. the daily concentrate feed allowance was 2.9 kg until the first ovulation after weaning and 2.2 kg thereafter. The feed contained 14.9 % crude protein and 12.1 MJ ME /kg (papers I, II and III) or 12 % crude protein and 12.5 MJ ME/kg (paper IV). The concentrate ration was fed to the animals twice daily at 07.00 h and 15.00 h; straw was provided once daily, and water was supplied ad libitum. In the food deprivation experiment (paper IV) food and straw were withheld (a total of 4 meals) from the food-deprived group of sows (D-group), starting with the first morning meal after ovulation. Reproductive performance during the two oestruses after weaning was recorded in all experiments. Three sows from paper I were excluded from the experiment owing to a delayed oestrus after weaning (> 10 d), while one was removed from the study in paper IV owing to her failure to ovulate during the second oestrus (developed ovarian cysts).

Clinical investigations

Oestrous detection

Standing oestrous reflex in front of the boar was employed for detection of onset of oestrus. After weaning, the sows were carefully examined for signs of pro-oestrus twice daily (morning and evening). Detection of the onset of oestrus was performed every 4 h until sows showed standing reflex. The experimental design of all studies in this thesis required that the time at which standing oestrus started be accurately identified. The onset of standing oestrus was defined as being midway between the first occasion on which she showed standing oestrus and the time of the previous check, which was made 4 h earlier.

Blood collection and insemination

In all studies, indwelled, permanent silastic tubing for blood collection was inserted into a jugular vein under general anaesthesia (Rodriguez-Martinez and Kunavongkrit, 1983) between days 13 and 16 of the second oestrous cycle after weaning. In connection with the blood-collection events, care was taken to minimise any undue disturbances to the sows. Blood was collected at 12 h intervals for 72 h before onset of standing oestrus and every 2 h thereafter until slaughter (paper I), or it was collected daily between insemination (every 2 h) and slaughter (paper IV). During the second oestrus after weaning (papers II and III) either artificial insemination with neat semen or natural mating once with one of three boars of proven fertility was performed about 18 h prior to expected ovulation (except for four sows, paper III). Sows in paper IV were inseminated once with 100 ml of Beltsville thawing solution (BTS)-extended fresh semen containing 10 x 109 spermatozoa, 20-10 h before expected ovulation.

Handling of blood samples

Blood was collected in heparinized tubes (10 ml blood sample) for analysis of oestradiol-17 β (E₂), luteinizing hormone (LH), progesterone (P₄), cortisol, insulin and PG-metabolite (papers I and IV). The blood samples were centrifuged at room temperature immediately after collection whereupon the plasma was removed and stored at -20 ° C until analysis.

Hormone analysis

 E_2 and P_4 concentrations in plasma samples collected in the studies described in papers I and IV were determined by enzyme immunoassay (Amerlite, Kodak Clinical Diagnostics Ltd., Amersham, England). The kits were used in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions, with modifications as described

by Rojkittikhun et al. (1993a). Samples collected from 72 h before the onset of standing oestrus until slaughter in paper I were quantified for LH using a heterologous radio-immunoassay validated for porcine plasma (Forsberg et al., 1993). Plasma samples collected every second hour between insemination and slaughter were analysed to determine cortisol concentrations using a luminescence immunoassay as described by Magnusson et al. (1994). Insulin levels in the plasma samples were measured by radioimmunoassay (Insulin RIA 100, Pharmacia Diagnostics AB, Uppsala, Sweden). The main initial blood plasma metabolite of prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$, 15-keto-13,14-dihydro-PGF₂, (PG-metabolite) was quantified by radioimmunoassay as described previously (Kunavongkrit et al., 1983).

Morphological investigations

Sows in paper IV were slaughtered 65 - 91 h post ovulation. All other sows (papers I, II and III) were slaughtered either 8 h before ovulation (pre-ovulatory group), during ovulation (peri-ovulatory group) or 8 h after ovulation (post-ovulatory group). In all cases (papers II and III), the internal genital organs were immediately removed and transferred to a prewarmed room (about 37 0 C). One oviduct per sow in papers II and III was chosen at random and vascularly perfused with a 3% solution of glutaraldehyde in 0.067 M sodium cacodylate buffer (pH 7.3, 500 mOsm/l). The remaining oviduct was divided up into four segments, i.e.

the utero-tubal junction (UTJ) and three equal isthmic segments (lower, middle and upper isthmus), and flushed with warm Beltsville thawing solution (BTS). The flushings from each segment were examined in search of spermatozoa whose membrane integrity was determined by staining with fluorochrome dyes (carboxyfluorescein diacetate and propidium iodide) in accordance with the method used by Ortman and Rodriguez-Martinez (1994). Sperm numbers in each segment were quantified using a haemocytometer (Burker chamber, 0.1 mm deep). After flushing, the four tubal segments were opened longitudinally and immersion fixed in a 3% solution of glutaraldehyde in 0.067 M sodium cacodylate buffer (pH 7.3. 500 mOsm/l). In paper IV, the oviducts and uterine segments were flushed separately with warm phosphate-buffered solution (PBS) for ova recovery. All flushings were collected in a glass beaker. Most of the fluid was filtered away leaving only a small volume to which a 3% solution of glutaraldehyde fixative was added. An inverted microscope (Olympus, Japan) with phase contrast optics was used at x 200 magnification to examine and count the blastomeres in the cleaved ova and the accessory spermatozoa in the zona pellucida (ZP).

Determination of sperm numbers and membrane integrity by electron microscopy

Fixed oviduct samples in papers II and III were divided up in the same way as the flushed oviduct samples. The samples were routinely prepared for scanning (SEM) and transmission electron microscopy (TEM) and examined in electron microscopes (Cambridge 150 SEM at 20 kV and Philips EM 201 TEM at 60-80 kV, respectively).

Statistical analyses

Statistical evaluations were performed using the analysis of variance (GLM procedure), t-test and Spearman correlation analyses included in the SAS software package (SAS Institute Inc. 1987; 1989). The frequency distribution of groups (paper II and IV) was compared using a chi-square test (Fisher's exact test). In papers II and III, the data were logarithmically transformed (log_e). All statistical tests having a P-value of 0.05 or less were considered significant.

Results

Oestrus/oestrous symptoms, hormonal changes and their relationships to ovulation (paper I)

In 15 sows, oestrous period had a mean duration of 56 ± 7.9 h and ovulation took place about seven-tenths (mean of 68 ± 7.7 %) of the way through the standing oestrus. A positive correlation was found between the interval from onset of oestrus to ovulation and the length of oestrus (r = 0.51, P = 0.05). Total numbers of ovulatory follicles correlated significantly with the interval between the onset of pro-oestrus and the oestradiol-17 β (E₂) peak (r = 0.62, P < 0.05). In cases where the interval from weaning to onset of oestrus was short, the duration of oestrus to E₂ peak was negatively related to the interval from the E₂ peak to ovulation, (r = -0.84, P < 0.05). In sows with a short LH surge the period between the onset of the LH surge and ovulation was long (r = -0.73, P = 0.06). The mean interval from onset of the LH surge in ovulation was 12 h with a large amount of variation between sows (range: -10 to + 22 h). The interval from onset of oestrus to LH peak concentration was 12 h and in this case as well there was large variation between sows (range: -10 to + 32 h).

Oestrus/oestrous symptoms and ovulation during two consecutive oestruses

After careful establishment of onset of standing oestrus, no significant differences were found between the intervals from onset of standing oestrus to ovulation after weaning and the corresponding interval during second oestrus in eleven sows (P > 0.10). The first pro-oestrus was shorter than the second pro-oestrus after weaning (P < 0.001). In all the sows studied (papers I and IV), no ovulation occurred within 24 h of the onset of standing oestrus (unpublished observations).

Distribution and number of spermatozoa in flushed and fixed oviducts (papers II and III)

Irrespective of the stage during oestrus, the utero-tubal junction (UTJ) and lower isthmus contained more spermatozoa than the middle and upper segments of the isthmus. A significant boar influence was seen in sperm distribution in the UTJ and lower isthmus (P < 0.01). The first flushing of the UTJ and the isthmus yielded more spermatozoa compared with the second flushing, especially during post-ovulation (P < 0.05). Sperm numbers in the UTJ and lower isthmus were significantly higher during the pre-ovulatory period than during the peri- and post-ovulatory periods (P < 0.01). The population of spermatozoa in the upper isthmus was higher during and after ovulation compared with the period before ovulation (P < 0.05). Before ovulation sperm numbers tended to decrease from the UTJ

towards the upper isthmus in both flushed and fixed oviducts. The quantification of spermatozoa before ovulation was hindered by the presence of thick intraluminal fluid (masses) and tightly closed primary folds of the endosalpinx in fixed oviducts. On the luminal surface of the flushed oviducts that were immersion-fixed no masses were observed, but spermatozoa were found inside the primary folds of the endosalpinx. Sperm numbers before ovulation were lower on the central mucosal surface of the UTJ than inside the crypts formed by the folded mucosa (P < 0.01), (Paper III). No differences were found between the numbers of spermatozoa on the central mucosal surface and the number inside the crypts during or after ovulation.

Morphology of epithelial lining and location of spermatozoa

Two populations of spermatozoa were identified in this study; a) those that established intimate head contact with microvilli and cilia on the surface of the mucosal folds or inside the crypts or interfolds, and b) those lacking epithelial contact but entangled in coagulated intraluminal masses (paper III). A characteristic presence of masses of spermatozoa trapped in intraluminal material was a common observation in vascularly perfusion-fixed specimens before ovulation (papers II and III) but was less pronounced during and after ovulation. Spermatozoa were observed singly or in groups on the central mucosal surface and with straight or slightly curved tails in clusters inside the crypts or interfolds, before ovulation.

Sperm plasma membrane integrity as studied with fluorochrome dyes, scanning electron microscopy (SEM) and transmission electron microscopy (TEM)

The proportion of spermatozoa from flushed oviducts which had intact plasma membranes in the UTJ after staining with fluorochrome dyes was higher (P < 0.05) before ovulation than afterwards (paper II). SEM, revealed that the numbers of spermatozoa with intact plasma membrane tended to be higher (P = 0.06) before ovulation compared with the period during or after ovulation (paper II). It was difficult to evaluate the membrane status especially inside the coagulated intraluminal masses using SEM. However, with TEM it was possible to see that most spermatozoa inside the coagulated intraluminal masses had damaged plasma membranes in the head domain, while those apposed to the epithelium had intact plasma membranes (paper III). The use of TEM on post-ovulatory sections showed that even some spermatozoa apposed to the epithelium had damaged plasma membranes and acrosomes (paper III).

Recovery and cleavage rate of ova, numbers of spermatozoa in the zona pellucida (paper IV)

Food-deprived and control sows did not differ in terms of their ova recovery rate, ovulation rate or fertilisation rate or in the length of the intervals between i) insemination and ovulation, ii) ovulation and start of food-deprivation or iii) the start of food-deprivation and slaughter. Embryos from food-deprived sows showed a lower cleavage rate and had fewer accessory spermatozoa in the ZP compared to those of the controls.

Peri-ovulatory changes in reproductive and metabolic hormones during food deprivation

In the D-group plasma insulin levels were lower during the food deprivation period than afterwards (P < 0.01). Peripheral blood cortisol was higher in the D-group sows than in the C-group sows (P < 0.05). The increase in plasma progesterone (P4) concentrations was more pronounced in the D-group sows than in the C-group sows, and the difference was significant during the second day of deprivation (P < 0.05). Plasma levels of PG-metabolite during the food deprivation period were higher in the D-group sows than in the C-group sows (P < 0.05).

General Discussion

Oestrus/oestrous symptoms, hormonal changes and their relationship to ovulation (paper I)

In cases where the duration from onset of standing oestrus to ovulation was long the duration of standing oestrus was also found to be long. These findings are comparable to those of Soede et al. (1994). Irrespective of the duration of standing oestrus, ovulation always occurred about seven-tenths (mean of 68 %) of the way through the standing oestrus as similarly reported by Soede et al. (1994).

The peri-ovulatory hormonal profiles of E_2 and LH observed were expected and related to follicular development and occurrence of ovulation, and were comparable with earlier studies by Soede et al. (1994) and Blair et al. (1994). Peak LH concentrations (paper I) occurred at a mean of 12 h after the onset of oestrus and there was a large amount of variation between sows (range: -10 to +32 h) as was also found by Soede et al. (1994) and Dalin et al. (1995). On average E_2 concentrations peaked around one hour after the onset of oestrus, and, again, there was large variation between sows (range: -10 to +22 h), in accordance with the findings of Soede et al. (1994). Wide variation between sows was also found in the lengths of the interval between the E_2 peak and ovulation, with a mean of 44 h (range 34 - 54 h), and from LH peak to ovulation with a mean of 35 h (range: 27 to 48 h). These findings were also similar to earlier results obtained by Soede et al. (1994) and Dalin et al. (1995) respectively. It might be difficult to estimate the time of ovulation based on the hormone parameters with standing oestrus as a reference point since some peaks occurred before the onset of oestrus, while others occurred afterwards.

Durations of pro-oestrus, and oestrus (paper I) were similar to those reported previously by Sterning et al. (1994). It is difficult to explain why the first prooestrus in sows after weaning was shorter than the second one. One possibility is that the difference is related partly to changes in hormonal patterns (E_2). The fact that weaning results in an elevation in gonadotropin secretion and lead to the occurrence of oestrus suggests that weaning results in a quick rise in E_2 levels. However, it seems unlikely that E_2 reaches high concentrations since Rojanasthien (1988) reported that E_2 levels remained low during the first 60 - 84 h after weaning. Alternatively, the concentration threshold above which E_2 initiates standing oestrus might be lower immediately after weaning owing perhaps to increased receptor sensitivity. In any case, further studies to elucidate this occurrence are needed.

Oestrus/oestrous symptoms and ovulation during two consecutive oestruses

The durations of the interval from onset of oestrus to ovulation for the two consecutive oestruses in the same sow did not show any significant differences, and the variations between sows were small in cases where the onset of standing oestrus during the first and second oestrus post-weaning had been accurately established. In another study where oestrous symptoms were carefully recorded in individual sows for two consecutive oestruses (Sterning et al., 1994), it was found that the pro-oestrus and external genital changes characterising the first oestrus after weaning were repeated during the second oestrus.

Once it had been documented that the onset-of-oestrus-to-ovulation intervals between the first and second oestrus after weaning did not differ significantly, it was possible to use the information gathered during the first oestrus after weaning to predict the time of ovulation and in retrospective calculate the time of insemination during the second oestrus. Improper establishment of the time of onset of standing oestrus might reflect a shortened duration to ovulation, however, in all cases where onset of oestrus was accurately established, ovulation were not detected for at least after 24 hours from standing oestrus.

Distribution and number of spermatozoa in flushed and fixed oviducts

Results obtained with regards to the proportional distributions of spermatozoa among the segments from the UTJ to the upper isthmus and among stages during oestrus were similar in connection with the two techniques used (paper II). Both techniques revealed that the number of spermatozoa diminished gradually along a gradient from the UTJ to the upper isthmus during the pre-ovulatory period. However, more spermatozoa were recovered with the flushing technique than with the SEM technique. This difference was attributed in part to difficulties in counting the spermatozoa when using SEM. In the fixed segments spermatozoa were trapped in a thick intraluminal fluid during the pre-ovulatory period and the folds were more closed with spermatozoa in the deep mucosal furrows. The situation changed with ovulation, where the intraluminal fluid was much less perhaps due to a reduction in viscosity and less intense folding of the endosalpinx.

Irrespective of the stage in oestrus, the UTJ and lower isthmus contained more spermatozoa than did the middle or upper isthmus (paper II). These results are in accordance with earlier studies (Viring et al., 1980; Hunter, 1981) showing these sites to be the sperm reservoir in the pig. Further, in the reservoir spermatozoa were more common inside the spaces formed by the folded endosalpinx (crypts in the UTJ and interfolds in the lower isthmus) than on the central mucosal surface (paper III) pre-ovulation. This observation was thought to result from continous removal of the spermatozoa on the mucosal surface together with the intraluminal fluid by the ongoing contractions of the oviduct which pushes the luminal fluid towards the peritoneal cavity (paper III). Sperm numbers in the crypts and interfolds and those on the central mucosal surface were not different during ovulation and afterwards owing perhaps to a possible redistribution effected by ovulation (paper III).

The significant influence of boar on sperm distribution (paper II) is difficult to explain but might indicate that boars differ in terms of survival rates of their spermatozoa inside the female genital tract. Although all other semen parameters were within the accepted range of the values for boars, according to the semen laboratory at the Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology (Mburu et al., 1996), the number of spermatozoa in the oviduct following insemination/mating was significantly lower for one of the boars in the oviduct. Spermatozoa from this boar also had a lower post-thaw motility in vitro (Eriksson, personal communication).

The fact that more spermatozoa were liberated during the first flushing than the second flushing during the post-ovulatory period (paper II) indicates that the spermatozoa were more loosely attached to the epithelium during this period. This observation was attributed to occurrence of ovulation (Paper III). Lack of differences in sperm numbers liberated between the first and second flushing before ovulation indicates that a firm attachment of boar spermatozoa to the epithelium exists similar to the one observed in the hamster (Smith and Yanagimachi, 1990).

The upper isthmus contained more spermatozoa during and after ovulation compared with before ovulation (paper II), which indicates that ovulation resulted in relocation of spermatozoa and, possibly, in a more co-ordinated adovarian movement (Hunter, 1984) of spermatozoa from the reservoir. The upper isthmus in most mammalian species is close to the fertilisation site. Thick intraluminal masses (papers II and III) were not characteristically present during or after ovulation, meaning that ovulation might have contributed to either their disappearance or loosening, therefore making it possible for spermatozoa to advance from the reservoir. In connection with ovulation a widening of the UTJ and isthmus lumen was observed (paper III) probably owing to the disappearance of oestrogen induced oedema and perhaps contributing to the relocation of spermatozoa from the reservoir. The reason why this relocation occurs in connection with ovulation has yet to be determined. One possibility is that the oocytes selectively attract spermatozoa with a strong fertilising capacity (Cohen-Dayag et al., 1994). Only a very small proportion of spermatozoa in the reservoir are able to advance to the upper isthmus (paper II). One hypothesis to explain why such a small number of spermatozoa advance is that a "dose-dependent message" stimulating advancement comes in or is activated in connection with ovulation, reaches the spermatozoa in the reservoir but only perceived by the small fraction of spermatozoa with intact plasma membranes. Follicular fluid has been shown to enter the porcine oviduct following ovulation, although in small quantities, (Hansen et al., 1991), and it is still not clear what role, if any, it might play in the relocation of spermatozoa.

Another possibility is that following ovulation, some follicular fluid might enter the oviduct and stimulate chemotactic and chemokinetic responses in the spermatozoa in the reservoir comparable to those shown by Ralt et al. (1994) in human. In the latter study only a small fraction of sperm population was responsive to the attractant. Hunter and Nichol (1986) reported that the caudal isthmus was cooler than the ampulla before ovulation, whereas no differences in temperature between these locations were found after ovulation. Thus it is possible that spermatozoa relocate once the reservoir has warmed up. Redistribution of spermatozoa from reservoirs related to occurrence of ovulation has been reported in other animals, i.e. Australian marsupial *Sminthopsis crassicaudata* (Bedford and Breed, 1994) and New World monkey *Cebus apella* (Ortiz et al., 1995).

Morphology of epithelial lining and location of spermatozoa (paper III)

The epithelial lining of vasculary perfused specimens in the present work revealed that, the apical side of the cilliated and non.ciliated cells were the same height in both SEM and TEM (Paper III). In earlier studies the non-ciliated cells were more prominent (Stalheim et al., 1975; Wu et al., 1976; Fléchon and Hunter, 1981; Hunter et al., 1987). Apical protrusion of non-ciliated cells was observed where gently flushed oviducts with physiological fluids prior to glutaraldehyde fixation was done (paper II). Protrusion of the epithelial lining was thought to be an artefact resulting from differences in osmotic sensitivity among epithelial cells following exposure of luminal environment (paper III).

It was possible to identify two populations of spermatozoa during the study. In one population, sperm heads made intimate contact with the microvilli and cilia of the epithelial cells either on the central mucosal surface or inside the crypts or interfolds. In the other population there was no epithelial contact, but spermatozoa were entangled in intraluminal masses. It is conceivable that the spermatozoa benefit in some way from their adherence/attachment to the epithelial cells, although it is difficult to suggest what benefits the spermatozoa could derive from the epithelial cells within the scope of this study. Smith and Yanagimachi (1990) showed that firm attachment of hamster spermatozoa to the epithelium increased their survival in the oviduct. In in vitro studies by Pollard et al. (1991), frozenthawed spermatozoa were shown to maintain their motility and fertilising capacity when incubated together with bovine oviductal cells harvested between the onset of oestrus and ovulation. In vitro studies performed by Raychoudhury and Suarez (1991), pre-ovulatory levels of steroids were shown to enhance the binding of boar spermatozoa to the isthmic epithelium. It is speculated that broken/dead spermatozoa become entrapped in the coagulated material while intact/live spermatozoa attach to the epithelium (paper III).

The characteristic intraluminal masses observed before ovulation in the present study were perhaps a result of increased secretory activity (Johansson et al., 1997).

In the latter study increased electron-dense and lucent secretory granules were observed pre-ovulation. Further, in the same study mucus was more abundant prior to ovulation in the lumen of the lower isthmus. An increase in oviductal fluid resulting from secretion or transudation under the influence of high levels of oestrogens in the blood has been reported in sows (Iritani et al., 1974). It has been observed that small amounts of fluid are transported like a bolus as the luminal fluid is peristaltically propelled upwards from the UTJ to the ovarian end (Blandau and Gaddum-Rosse, 1974). The latter observation bears similarity to the observed masses of spermatozoa/coagulated intraluminal fluid (paper III). Studies in the cow revealed that pre-ovulatory spermatozoa in the caudal isthmus were located among the folds and in viscous intraluminal fluid (Hunter et al., 1991). Boar spermatozoa entrapped in mucus secretion was observed in pre-ovulatory isthmic explants by Raychoudhury and Suarez (1991) in vitro. Retention of spermatozoa in the reservoir might be partly resulting from presence of thick viscous secretion hindering forward progression of the spermatozoa.

Spermatozoa were observed to be packed in the crypts and interfolds of the reservoir before ovulation and had straight to slightly curved tails, indicating reduced activity. The lower temperature of the reservoir at this time, compared with that of the ampulla and with post-ovulatory temperature, could perhaps be one of the reasons why spermatozoal activity was reduced (Hunter and Nichol, 1986). A study in rabbits (Saksena and Harper, 1975), showed segmental variations in prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ concentrations relative to ovulation. Further, in the same study prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ was shown to be increased in the distal isthmus at ovulation whereas its levels were low in the ampulla. A peri-ovulatory role of Prostaglandins (PGs) of both F and E series might be worthy looking into in connection with relocation of spermatozoa in the pig in future.

Sperm plasma membrane integrity as studied with fluorochrome dyes, scanning electron microscopy (SEM) and transmission electron microscopy (TEM)

Fluorophore staining revealed that numbers of spermatozoa with intact plasma membranes in the UTJ were higher before ovulation than afterwards, and a similar tendency was found with SEM (paper II). Fluorochrome dyes were capable of staining spermatozoa with even small membrane disruptions which might not have been observable with SEM. Spermatozoa revealed by TEM to be in intimate contact with the epithelial cells of the UTJ and lower isthmus had intact plasma membranes before ovulation, and some had broken ones after ovulation. This observation suggests that plasma membranes of the spermatozoa undergo certain changes (acrosome-like reaction with disruption of the acrosome) in connection with ovulation.

Spermatozoa examined in TEM and in coagulated intraluminal mass had broken plasma membranes. Flushed-out spermatozoa that were intermingled with dead epithelial cells and other intraluminal material had broken plasma membranes (paper III). Attachment/adherence of spermatozoa to the oviductal epithelial cells before ovulation might contribute to their well being as indicated by the large numbers with intact plasma membranes before ovulation.

Spermatozoa capacitation in the bovine (one of the causes of membrane disruption) appears to be regulated by ovulation (Ellington, 1991). Studies on in vivo capacitation of bovine spermatozoa, showed that more spermatozoa were acrosome reacted in the ampulla of the oviduct ipsilateral to the ovulatory ovary (Herz et al., 1985). In the hamster, Yanagimachi (1969) noted that at ovulation, part of the follicular fluid is transported into the oviduct together with the cumulus oophorus containing the eggs. It has been shown by in vitro studies that follicular fluid can promote sperm capacitation and acrosome reaction in the hamster (Yanagimachi, 1969), and mouse (Iwamatsu and Chang, 1969). The follicular fluid of bovine was shown to contain compounds like proteoglycans which have ability to induce acrosome reactions (Lenz et al., 1982). Hansen et al. (1991) observed only small amounts of follicular fluid in the gilt oviduct at ovulation, where it was said to have a stimulatory but nonessential effect on the acrosome reaction. It is possible that during ovulation some follicular fluid was introduced which contained components that induced the observed membrane changes in the spermatozoa. Alternatively the oocytes, with their cumulus investments, or the follicular fluid, regardless of the amount, may have caused the epithelial cells to produce compounds that induce membrane changes in the spermatozoa.

Recovery and cleavage rate of ova, numbers of spermatozoa in the zona pellucida (paper IV)

Compared with the control group, the food-deprived group of sows had decreased numbers of viable spermatozoa in the oviduct reservoir as reflected in the numbers attached to the ZP. It is thought that food deprivation might have led to a change in the oviduct environment, hence reducing the viability of the spermatozoa or accelerating their elimination and therefore reducing the numbers attaching to the zona pellucida. The cleavage rate was lower in the embryos of the food-deprived group of sows than in those of the control group. A change in the oviductal environment induced by food deprivation was considered to be the most likely cause of the lowered cleavage rate. Reduced pregnancy rates (from 90 to 52%) and litter size were observed in a study by Wiebold et al. (1986) in mice stressed on days 1-3 of pregnancy, where abnormalities in the transport and development of the embryos as well as in the development of the corpus luteum (CL) were observed.

The main reproductive events during the first 2 days of pregnancy in the pig are the transport and cleavage of ova which occur in the oviduct. Any changes in the oviductal environment can influence both these events. Pratt and Lisk (1989)

suggested that in the rat, surbordinate females produce smaller litters via selective resorption or spontaneous abortion of males in utero. They went further to suggest that since the male offspring of those subordinate females were smaller compared with those of dominant or control females, the former were more susceptible in utero to the effects of maternal stress.

Peri-ovulatory changes in reproductive and metabolic hormones during food deprivation

Plasma insulin levels were low during the food-deprivation period in the D-group sows and increased again during the refeeding period, hence providing an objective indication that these sows had a reduced energy intake. Food deprivation has earlier been shown to reduce plasma insulin levels in lactating sows (Rojkittikhun et al., 1993b), gilts (Prunier et al., 1993) and horses (Buonomo and Baile, 1991). In the rat low insulin levels were shown (De-Hertogh et al., 1992) to cause a substantial reduction in the number of embryos and a cellular decrease at the blastocyst stage. In another study, a developmental delay was found in embryos recovered from diabetic mice (Diamond et al., 1989).

The plasma cortisol elevation seen in the D-group sows, compared with the Cgroup sows, might have been related to food deprivation. Increased cortisol levels in the peripheral blood following either deprivation or restriction of food have been reported in sows (Tsuma et al., 1996), gilts (Prunier et al., 1993), humans and monkeys (Alleyne and Young, 1967; Dubey et al., 1986). Behrens et al. (1993) reported that plasma cortisol can be transported into the uterine lumen where elevated levels may influence uterine environment and alter embryo development. It is not known whether the oviduct of food-deprived sows in our study contained elevated levels of cortisol, nor do we know how much of it was bound. Behrens et al. (1993) showed that 85% of the cortisol from the uterine flushings was unbound. Investigations in humans showed that women with high cortisol levels had reduced pregnancy rates (Demyttenaere et al., 1992).

The increase in plasma progesterone in both groups of sows was related to the development of corpora lutea, but the elevated increase seen in the D-group sows during deprivation, compared with the C-group sows, was related to fasting. Increases in plasma P_4 have also been reported during a 48-h period of food deprivation in sows (Tsuma et al., 1996) and in repsonse to a 50 % food restriction in gilts (Dyck and Kennedy, 1995). The reason(s) why food deprivation alters P_4 levels has yet to be identified. There has been some speculation that activation of the pituitary-adrenal axis results in an increase in plasma cortisol (Tsuma, 1995). In in vitro studies cortisol was shown to cause an increase in P_4 secretion from bovine granulosa cells (Kawate et al., 1993). Adrenal glands have been thought to contribute to P_4 increases during food deprivation; consequently, animals treated with ACTH have been shown to have increased P_4 plasma concentrations, i.e. sows (Tsuma, 1995), bos taurus cows (Alam et al., 1986), zebu cows (Bolanos et al., 1997), and white tailed deer (Plotka et al., 1983). Another probable cause of P_4

elevation is lowered metabolic clearance resulting from reduced blood flow to the liver (Symonds and Prime, 1989) during food deprivation. The possibility that some or all luteal cells increased production of P_4 owing to food deprivation should also be considered.

Variability in progesterone secretion has been thought to determine the synchrony between the uterine environment and embryo viability. In some studies it has been suggested that the synthesis or metabolism of progesterone affects the well being of the embryo in the pig (Pope, 1988; Pope et al., 1990). Progesterone variability in the latter study was thought to explain why changes in the uterine environment affected embryo viability. It is speculated that the same situation might have existed in the oviduct in this study. Pharazyn et al. (1991a) considered variability in progesterone secretion during early pregnancy in the gilt to be associated with changes in the concentration of P₄ perfusing through the oviductal vasculature. Changes in post-ovulatory progesterone concentrations have been thought to affect early embryonic survival through modification of the oviductal environment (Jindal et al., 1996). The mode of action through which P_4 influences the oviductal environment is not clearly understood, nor is it possible to know the type of effect, if any, increased P₄ might have on the fertilised ova. On the other hand, it is possible that the observed peripheral increases in P_4 in the present study were not reflected in the oviduct, especially if the source of the increased P4 was extragonadal.

PG-metabolite profiles in control sows and before deprivation in food deprived sows were comparable to those observed by Shille et al. (1979) in gilts during early pregnancy. However, during food deprivation a marked elevation in PG-metabolite levels was seen in the D-group sows in the present study. Food deprivation has also been shown to cause elevated levels of plasma PG-metabolite in prepuberal gilts (Holst and Kindahl, 1995) and sows on days 10 and 11 of pregnancy (Tsuma et al., 1996). The increase in free fatty acids, including arachidonic acid, that occurred in response to food deprivation (Silver and Fowden, 1982) might have led to increased prostaglandin synthesis. Muscular contractility in the oviduct is the primary force propelling the ova along the isthmus (Gaddum-Rosse and Blandau, 1973; 1976) towards the uterus. The normal function of the rabbit oviduct in terms of embryo transport have been thought to be regulated by a balance between prostaglandins of F and E series (Spilman and Harper, 1973). It has been shown that in the pig, prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ increases muscular contractility (Rodriguez-Martinez and Einarsson, 1985) and the frequency of phasic pressure fluctuations (Pettersson et al., 1993). The elevated levels of prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ in this study, might have been responsible for an increase in oviductal contractility. However, in the present study it was not possible to determine whether this was the case. Studies in the rabbit showed that responsiveness to prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ was reduced by half in progesterone-treated uterus (Porter and Behrman, 1971). In view of the elevated levels of progesterone in the present study, if the pig oviduct is affected in

the same way, then perhaps the contractility of the oviduct was not markedly increased.

Although in this study only the metabolite of prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ was analysed, increased levels of other prostaglandins cannot be ruled out. The roles of prostaglandin E (PGE) include, maintenance of the corpora lutea during early pregnancy in the pig (Ford and Christenson, 1991) and thereby stimulation of luteal P₄ secretion (Christenson et al., 1994). On the other hand studies in the horse have shown that PGE is secreted by the horse embryos and is involved in initiating their oviductal transport to the uterus (Weber et al., 1991). In a study where a compound inhibiting metabolism of prostaglandins (PGs) (Poly I:C) was administered in rabbits, accelerated ovum transport was observed and was associated with increased PGs in the oviduct (Harper et al., 1981). More studies are essential to elucidate the relationships between PGE and PGF in the pig oviduct during post-ovulatory food deprivation.

The well being of the embryo and its ability to follow the internally programmed sequence apparently depend on there being a continuous supply of energy, hormones and growth factors. The transition from the fertilised-ova (one-cell) stage through the developmental stages of early cleavage involves many specific changes that are still not understood. As a result of hormonal changes, the oviductal environment in the food-deprived sows may not have been suitable for embryo development and the viability of spermatozoa.

General Conclusions

- Ovulation was shown to consistently take place about seven-tenths of the way through the standing oestrus. LH and E₂ peak concentrations in relation to the onset of standing oestrus and ovulation showed a large amount of variation between sows. Therefore it is not possible to use these hormone parameters to estimate the time of ovulation accurately while using the onset of standing oestrus as a reference point.
- It should be possible to use the information recorded in one oestrus, especially regarding the interval from onset of standing oestrus to ovulation, to the predict time of ovulation in the next oestrus, provided that the onset of oestrus is correctly established in both oestruses.
- The number and distribution of spermatozoa in the UTJ and isthmus varied in relation to occurrence of ovulation in the sow. Boar had an influence on the sperm distribution in the female genital tract (UTJ and isthmus). A re-location of spermatozoa from the reservoir to the upper isthmus, and hence towards the fertilisation site occurred in connection with ovulation. Ovulation also reduced numbers of spermatozoa with intact plasma membranes in the UTJ and lower isthmus.
- Spermatozoa are located at specific sites. Some are in contact with the oviductal epithelium while others are not, and the bulk of them reside inside the crypts or interfolds. The pre-ovulatory period was characterised by a narrowed lumen in the UTJ and isthmus and the presence of viscous intraluminal fluid, while the post-ovulatory period was characterised by a wider lumen and less intraluminal viscous fluid. Attachment/adherence of spermatozoa to the UTJ/isthmic epithelial cells prior to ovulation increased their viability, while after ovulation even the attached/adhered spermatozoa had broken plasma membranes. Spermatozoa inside the intraluminal masses were found to be less viable both before and after ovulation.
- Food deprivation in sows led to increased plasma concentrations of cortisol, progesterone and PG- metabolite and to a decreased concentration of plasma insulin. Food deprivation resulted in a lowered cleavage rate and a decreased number of viable spermatozoa in the oviduct (measured indirectly as the number of accessory spermatozoa in the zona pellucida) which was attributed to hormonal changes.

Acknowledgements

The studies presented in this thesis were carried out at the Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Centre for Reproductive Biology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden. The work was financially supported by the Swedish Council for Forestry and Agricultural Research.

I feel indebted to everyone who in one way or another contributed to this work over the years. My sincere appreciation and gratitude go to the following persons:

Professor Stig Einarsson, my supervisor and Head of Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, for welcoming me to this wonderful Department and introducing me to the field of research in pig reproduction. For being my mentor over the years. For his continuos support, interest in my work, guidance and encouragement, time generously devoted for very rewarding discussions, outstanding patience, constructive criticism, all added up to my continuos sanity over the years and for an excellent working atmosphere. Thank you Stig for believing in me.

Professor Heriberto Rodriguez-Martinez, my co-advisor and co-worker, who introduced me into the interesting field of electron microscopy. For provision of expert guidance, inspiring and valuable suggestions, discussions and constructive criticism. For making me believe all is possible where there is will. I have learnt a lot from you.

Dr. Karin Östensson, for introducing me to the studies of Animal Reproduction during the 20th Swedish International Post-graduate Course on Animal Reproduction (SIPAR). For her encouragement and initiating me into the field of research. For her continuous moral support. Sight-seeing and dinner invi Dr. Kjell-Åke Ahlin, the *computer wizard*, for introducing me into computing and always being ready to help.

Johnny Carlsson, for tirelessly offering his excellent librarian service.

Dr. Victor Tsuma, my Kenyan colleague, for giving me the clinical and practical orientation at the beginning of this work, for his guidance and encouragement. His wife Nelly for warm friendship and shared good times.

Marianne and Hans Ekwall, for their kindness and for excellent technical assistance.

Birgitta Berner, for being a very nice person, kind and most understanding. Thank you Birgitta. I will treasure your kindness all my life.

Helene Gille for warm friendship, nice chats, hospitality, understanding, shared hours in the surgery room and generally making life tolerable in Sweden.

Christina Odensvik, for friendship and never lacking kind words.

Marie Sundberg, for her help in diverse ways and for occasional shared "girl-talk" and "children-talk" which always gave me a break from the serious world of books.

Dr. Fredrick Hultén, for explaining to me in English about the Swedish written formatting of this thesis, despite himself being equally busy writing his own thesis.

Professor Ron Hunter, for stimulating and inspiring discussions about the oviduct.

Prof. Ingemar Settegren for making me develop interest in andrology during the SIPAR course.

Dr. Anne-Marie Dalin, my co-author in some studies, for valuable collaboration and always making sure the ultrasound machine was in good working condition.

Dr. Bingrong Zhang, my former classmate in SIPAR course, colleague, office-mate and a friend. For introducing me to the ultrasonographic world and providing very good working atmosphere.

Dr. Alfred Mwanza, my colleague and office-mate, for sharing live animal experimentation hardships with me, helping out with some nightime ultrasonography during my last experiment and nice discussions about our continent. His wife Grace and children for warm friendship.

Drs. Margaretha Holtman and Torkel Ekman, for helping me with a place to sleep during my overnight experiments, Eva Lundel for friendly corridor chats. Dr. Onyango, I. my Kenyan colleague, for friendship, nice and encouraging bible quotations and positive response on my literature requests, his wife Mary for warm friendship.

All my colleagues in O-G Department, Margaretta W. (Kulla), Lena M., Renée Båge, Annelie E., Lennart S., Ulf M., Vendela P., Karin P., Bodil S., Catharina L-F., Anne-Marie T., Pia E., Kristian K., Birgitta L., Hans G. for discussions and time together over the years.

My fellow guest researchers in this Department, Allesandra Rota for friendly chats and kindness, Gamini R. for being such a nice and calm office-mate and for a very warm family friendship, Aloyzas, Omar A., Merga B., Shichun L., Jorge Gil., Jorge C., Mario D., Marcello A. for enjoyable discussions and sharing nice times together.

All my former classmates during the 20th SIPAR course, for the shared good times, parties, discussions both scientific and social.

All other friends and associates not mentioned by name.

Karin, S-W. and Anika R., the wonderful ladies of sperm-lab., for their consistent willingness to help in the laborious work of counting the spermatozoa, and for always helping me out with lab equipment over the years.

Bengt Ericksson, for allowing me during my experiments to use his boars and never failing to give any assistance with them whenever called upon.

Drs. Susanne S. Ingrid Ö. for their friendship and kindness, shared coffee-room and corridor chats.

Charlotte J., for friendship, and for excellent help with PG analysis.

Asa, J. For being a nice person and for your expert help with immunocytochemistry.

Mari-Anne Carlsson, Åsa Karlsson and Berit for their friendly attitude and excellent assistance with hormone analysis.

Carola J., Mari W., Kjell-ove E., Ulrika M., for being very nice and friendly, Hellevi A. and Lasse Ström, for helping with the animals.

Associate Professor Beth Maina, for warm friendship, encouragement, support and fruitful discussions.

My Kenyan friends in Sweden, Lucy Mukaru and her family, for their warm friendship and for always being there for me.

Tom J. and Bo F., for their all-round kindness.

Eva-Karin E., for her friendly chats and encouragement.

My dear parents and my brother for their moral support and prayers. Mum for all her worries about me and for visiting my children during my long absence.

Many thanks to my dearest sister Sarah for taking care of my children and all my personal matters. It is not possible to express my gratitude to you Sarah in paper or by word of mouth but it is my prayer that the *Almighty* bless you abundantly. My other sisters for taking time to visit my children in boarding schools, inviting them to their homes and generally making sure all was well. My brother-in-law Alfred for helping me with travel arrangements for my two sons to join me in Sweden and keeping me in touch through e-mail messages about urgent needs for my daughter.

My special thanks to my loving children, Kenneth, Susan and Anthony for allowing me to leave them under the care of their Aunt Sarah in order to pursue further studies in Sweden. My eldest son Kenneth for taking care of Anthony when I arrived home late or had to leave very early in the morning during the final preparation of this work. My daughter Susan for her constant letters full of encouragement, and plenty of stories about her school which always brightened my days.

My dear friends and colleagues Dr. Teresa Gichane, Florence Muchemi and Mrs E. Mahui for their support and encouragement and handling many affairs on my behalf in Kenya.

The ministry of Agriculture, Livestock and Marketing of the Kenya Government for granting me study leave to pursue further studies.

Knut och Alice Wallenbergs stiftelse is acknowledged for travelling grants to Australia and the Netherlands.

References

- Alam, M. G. S., H. Dobson and R. J. Fitzpatrick, 1986: Endocrine responses to doses of ACTH in cows. Br. Vet. J. 142, 239 245.
- Alleyne, G. A. and V. H. Young, 1967: Adrenocortical function in children with severe protein-calorie malnutrition. Clin. Sci. 33, 189 200.
- Anderson, L. L., 1975: Embryonic and placental development during prolonged inanition in the pig. Am. J. Physiol. 229, 1687 1694.
- Bedford, J. M. and W. G. Breed, 1994: Regulated storage and subsequent transformation of spermatozoa in the fallopian tubes of an Australian marsupial, Sminthopsis crassicadata. Biol. Reprod. 50, 845 854.
- Behrens, M. J., H. G. Kattesh and G. A. Baumbach, 1993: Plasma and uterine cortisol, progesterone and protein changes in pseudopregnant gilts treated with hydrocortisone acetate. Theriogenology 40, 1231-1241.
- Blair, R. M., C. M. Coughlin, J. E. Minton and D. L. Davis, 1994: Peri-oestrus hormonal profiles, embryonic survival and variation in embryonic development in gilts and primiparous sows. J. Reprod. Fertil. 101, 167-173.
- Blandau, J. R. and P. Gaddum-Rosse, 1974: Mechanism of sperm transport in pig oviducts. Fertil. Steril. 25, 61 67.
- Bokma, S. 1990: Housing and management in practice, partly slatted systems. In electronic identification in the pig production. Monogr. Ser. No. 10, Royal Agricultural Society of England, Stoneleigh, pp. 37 46.
- Bolanos, J. M., J. R. Molina, and M. Forsberg, 1997: Effect of blood sampling and administration of ACTH on cortisol and progesterone levels in ovariectomized zebu cows (Bos indicus). Acta vet. scand. 38, 1 7.
- Buonomo, F. C. and C. A. Baile, 1991: Influence of nutritional deprivation on insulinlike growth factor 1, somatotropin and metabolic hormones in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 69, 755 - 760.
- Christenson, L. K., D. B. Farley, L. H. Anderson and S. P. Ford, 1994: Luteal maintenance during early pregnancy in the pig: role for prostaglandin E2. Prostaglandins 47, 61 75.
- Cohen-Dayag, A., D. Ralt, I. Tur-kaspa, M. Manor, A. Makler, J. Dor, S. Mashiach and M. Eisenbach, 1994: Sequential acquisition of chemotactic responsiveness by human spermatozoa. Biol. Reprod. 50, 786 - 790.
- Dalin, A-M., T. Nanda, F. Hulten and S. Einarsson, 1995: Ovarian activity at naturally attained oestrus in the sow, and ultrasonographic and LH study. Acta vet. scand. 36, 377 382.
- De-Hertogh, R., I. Vanderheyden, S. Pampfer, D. Robin and J. Delcourt, 1992: Maternal insulin treatment improves pre-implantation embryo development in diabetic rats. Diabetologia. 35, 406 408.
- Demyttenaere, K., P. Niljs, G. Evers-Kiebooms and P. R. Koninckx, 1992: Coping and the ineffectiveness of coping influence the outcome of in vitro fertilisation through stress responses. Psychoneuroendocrinology 17, 655-665.
- Diamond, M. P., K. H. Moley, A. Pellicer, W. K. Vaughn and A. H. DeCherney, 1989: Effects of streptozotocin and alloxan-induced diabetes mellitus on mouse follicular and early embryo development. J. Reprod. Fertil. 86, 1 - 10.
- Dubey, A. K., J. L. Cameron, R. A. Steiner and T. Plant, 1986: Inhibition of gonadotropin secretion in castrated male Rhesus monkeys (Macaca Mulata) induced by dietary restriction: analogy with the prepubertal hiatus of gonadotropin release. Endocrinology 118, 518 - 525.

- Dyck, G. W. and J. H. Strain, 1983: Post-mating feeding level of diet intake after mating on the serum concentration of thyroxine, growth hormone, insulin and glucose, and embryonic survival in the gilt. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 63, 579 - 585.
- Dyck, G. W. and A. D. Kennedy, 1995: The effect of level of diet intake after mating on the serum concentration of thyroxin, triidothyronine, growth hormone, insulin and glucose, and embryonic survival in the gilt. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 75, 315 325.
- Ellington, J. E., 1991: The bovine oviduct and its role in reproduction: A review of literature. Cornell Vet. 81, 313 328.
- Ellington, J. E., B. A. Ball, B. J. Blue, and C. E. Wilker, 1993: Capacitation-like membrane changes and prolonged viability in vitro of equine spermatozoa cultured with uterine tube epithelial cells. Am. J. Vet. Res. 54, 1505 1510.
- Fléchon, J. E. and R. H. F. Hunter, 1981: Distribution of spermatozoa in the utero-tubal junction and the isthmus of pigs, and their relationship with luminal epithelium after mating: A scanning electron microscope study. Tissue Cell 13, 127 - 139.
- Ford, S. P. and L. K. Christenson, 1991: Direct effects of oestradiol- 17β and prostaglandin E2 in protecting pig corpora lutea from a luteolytic dose of prostaglandin F2 α . J. Reprod. Fertil. **93**: 203 209.
- Forsberg, M., R. Tagle, A. Madej, J. R. Molina and A-M. Carlson, 1993: Radioimmunoassay of bovine, ovine and porcine luteinizing hormone with a monoclonal antibody and human tracer. Acta vet. scand. 34, 255 - 262.
- Gaddum-Rosse, P. and R. J. Blandau, 1973: In vitro studies on ciliary activity within the oviducts of the rabbit and the pig. Amer. J. Anat. 136, 91 104.
- Gaddum-Rosse, P. and R. J. Blandau, 1976: Comparative observations of ciliary currents in mammalian oviducts. Biol. Reprod. 14, 605 - 609.
- Göransson, L., 1984: Förslag till ny utfodringsnorm till suggor. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Research Information Centre, Fakta-Husdjur, no. 3.
- Hansen, C., A. Srikandakumar and B. R. Downey, 1991: Presence of follicular fluid in the oviduct and its contribution to the acrosome reaction. Mol. Reprod. Dev. 30, 148 -153.
- Harper, M. J. K., C. J. Noris, W. E. Friedrichs and A. Moreno, 1981: Poly I:C accelerates ovum transport in the rabbit by a prostaglandin-mediated mechanism. J. Reprod. Fertil. 63, 81 89.
- Herz, Z., D. Northey, M. Lawyer and N. L. First, 1985: Acrosome reaction of bovine spermatozoa in vivo: Sites and effects of stages of the oestrous cycle. Biol. Reprod. 32, 1163 - 1168.
- Holst, H. and H. Kindahl, 1995: Hematological and blood biochemical effects of fasting and subsequent oral administration of endotoxin in prepubertal gilts. Acta vet. scand. 36, 499 - 508.
- Hunter, R.H.F., 1981: Sperm transport and reservoirs in the pig oviduct in relation to the time of ovulation. J. Reprod. Fertil. 63, 109 117.
- Hunter, R.H.F., 1984: Pre-ovulatory arrest and peri-ovulatory redistribution of competent spermatozoa in the isthmus of the pig oviduct. J. Reprod. Fertil. 72, 203 211.
- Hunter, R.H.F., 1991: Oviduct function in pigs, with particular reference to pathological condition of polyspermy. Mol. Reprod. Dev. 29, 385 391.
- Hunter, R. H. F. and J. P. Hall, 1974: Capacitation of boar spermatozoa: the influence of post-coital separation of the uterus and fallopian tubes. Anat. Rec. 180, 597 - 604.
- Hunter, R.H.F.and P. C. Leglise, 1971: Polyspermic fertilization following tubal surgery in pigs with particular reference to the role of the isthmus. J. Reprod. Fertil. 24, 233 246.

- Hunter, R. H. F. and R. Nichol, 1986: A pre-ovulatory temperature gardient between the isthmus and ampulla of pig oviducts during the phase of sperm storage. J. Reprod. Fertil. 77, 599 606.
- Hunter, R. H. F. and R. Nichol, 1988: Capacitation potential of the fallopian tube: a study involving surgical insemination and the subsequent incidence of polyspermy. Gamete Research 21, 255 266.
- Hunter, R.H.F. and I. Wilmut, 1984: Sperm transport in the cow: peri-ovulatory redistribution of viable cells within the oviduct. Reprod. Nutr. Dev. 24, 597 608.
- Hunter, R.H.F., B. Cook and N. L. Poyser, 1983: Regulation of oviduct function in pigs by local transfer of ovarian steroids and prostaglandins: a mechanism to influence sperm transport. Europ. J. Obstet. Gynec. Reprod. Biol. 14, 225 - 232.
- Hunter, R.H.F., B. Fléchon and J. E. Fléchon, 1987: Pre- and peri-ovulatory distribution of viable spermatozoa in the pig oviduct: A scanning electron microscope study. Tissue Cell 19, 423 436.
- Hunter, R.H.F., B. Fléchon and J. E. Fléchon, 1991: Distribution, morphology and epithelial interactions of bovine spermatozoa in the oviduct before and after ovulation. A scanning electron microscope study. Tissue Cell 23, 641 656.
- Hunter, R.H.F., R. Nichol and S. M. Crabtree, 1980: Transport of spermatozoa in the ewe: Timing of the establishment of a functional population in the oviduct. Reprod. Nutr. Dev. 20, 1869 1875.
- Iritani, A., E. Sato and Y. Nashikawa, 1974: Secretion rates and chemical composition of oviduct and uterine fluids in sows. J. Anim. Sci. 39, 582 - 588.
- Iwamatsu, T. and M. C. Chang, 1969: In vitro fertilisation of mouse eggs in the presence of bovine follicular fluid. Nature 224, 919 920.
- Jindal, R., J. R. Cosgrove, F. X. Aherne and G. R. Foxcroft, 1996: Effect of nutrition on embryonic mortality in gilts: association with progesterone. J. Anim. Sci. 74, 620 -624.
- Johansson, M., J. Mburu and H. Rodriguez-Martinez, 1997. Ultrastructure of the endosalpinx and demonstrations of oviduct luminal mucus in the pig. Proc. 5th Int. Conf. on Pig Reprod., 2-4 June, Rolduc, p 88.
- Katz, D. F. and R. Yanagimachi, 1980: Movement characteristics of hamster spermatozoa within the oviduct. Biol. Reprod. 22, 759 764.
- Kawate, N., T. Inaba, and J. Mori, 1993: Effects of cortisol on the amounts of estradiol-17 β and progesterone secreted and the number of luteinizing hormone receptors in cultured bovine granulosa cells. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 32, 15 - 25.
- Kunavongkrit, A., H. Kindahl and A. Madej, 1983: Clinical and endocrinological studies in primiparous zero-weaned sows. 2. Hormonal patterns of normal cycling sows after zero-weaning. Zbl. Vet. Med. A 30, 616 - 624.
- Lefebvre, R., P. J. Chenoweth, M. Drost, C. T. LeClear, M. MacCubbin, J. T. Dutton and S. S. Suarez, 1995: Characterisation of the oviductal sperm reservoir in cattle. Biol. Reprod. 53, 1066 1074.
- Lenz, R. W., R. L. Ax, H. J. Grimek and N. L. First, 1982: Proteoglycan from bovine follicular fluid enhances an acrosome reaction in bovine spermatozoa. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 106, 1092 - 1098.
- Maeda, K. and H. Tsukamura, 1996: Neuroendocrine mechanism mediating fastinginduced suppression of luteinising hormone secretion in female rats. Acta Neurobiol. Exp. 56, 787 - 796.
- Magnusson, U., H. Holst, H. Kindahl, and Å. Karlsson. 1994: Effect of mimicking prepartum concentration of oestradiol-17 β on the inflammatory response to endotoxin in gilts. Am. J. Vet. Res. 55, 785 - 789.

- Mendl, M., A. J. Zanella and D. M. Broom, 1992: Physiological and reproductive correlates of behavioural strategies in female domestic pigs. Anim. Behav. 44, 1107 1121.
- Mburu, J. N., S. Einarsson, N. Lundeheim and H. Rodriguez-Martinez, 1996: Distribution and membrane integrity of spermatozoa in pig oviduct in relation to ovulation. Proc. 3rd Int. Conf. on Boar Semen Preservation, Mariensee, August, 1995, 31, 57-62.
- Nara, B. S., D. Darmadja and N. L. First, 1981: Effect of removal of follicles, corpora lutea or ovaries on maintenance of pregnancy in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 52, 794 801.
- Ortiz, M-E., E. Valdez, G. Gajardo, C-G. Leon, E. Herrera and H. B. Croxatto, 1995: Sperm migration through the female genital tract of the New world Monkey *Cebus apella*. Biol. Reprod. 50, 845 - 854.
- Ortman, K. and H. Rodriguez-Martinez, 1994: Membrane damage during dilution, cooling and freezing thawing of the boar spermatozoa packaged in plastic bags. J. Vet. Med. A 41, 37 47.
- Overstreet, J. W., G. W. Cooper and D. F. Karz, 1978: Sperm transport in the reproductive tract of the female rabbit. The sustained phase of transport. Biol. Reprod. 19, 115 132.
- Pettersson, A., S. Einarsson and H. Kindahl, 1993: A study on the effects of inhibition of prostaglandin biosynthesis with flunixin meglumine and later administration of prostaglandin F2 α on the intraluminal pressure variations in the isthmus of the oviduct in unrestrained gilts. Acta vet. scand. 34, 125 131.
- Pharazyn, A., G. R. Foxcroft, and F. X. Aherne, 1991a: Temporal relationship between plasma progesterone concentrations in the utero-ovarian and jugular veins during early pregnancy in the pig. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 26, 323-332.
- Pharazyn, A., L. A. Den Hartog, G. R. Foxcroft, and F. X. Aherne, 1991b: Dietary energy and protein intake, plasma progesterone and embryo survival in early pregnancy in the gilt. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 71, 949 952.
- Plotka, E. D., U. S. Seal, L. J. Verme and J. J. Ozoga, 1983: The adrenal gland in the white -tailed deer: a significant source of progesterone. J. Wildl. Manage. 47, 38 44.
- Polkowska, J. 1996: Stress and nutritional influences on GnRH and somatostatin neuronal systems in the ewe. Acta. Neurobiol. Exp. 56, 797 806.
- Pollard, J. W., C. Plante, W. A. King, P. J. Hansen, K. J. Betterridge and S. S. Suarez, 1991: Fertilising capacity of bovine sperm may be maintained by binding to oviductal epithelial cells. Biol. Reprod. 44, 102 - 107.
- Pope, W. F. 1988: Uterine asynchrony: a cause of embryonic loss. Biol. Reprod. 39, 999 -1003.
- Pope, W. F. and N. L. First, 1985: Factors affecting the survival of pig embryos. Theriogenology 23, 91 - 105.
- Pope, W. F., S. Xie, D. M. Broermann and K. P. Nephew, 1990: Causes and consequences of early embryonic diversity in pigs. J. Reprod. Fert. Suppl. 40, 251 -260.
- Porter, D. G. and H. R. Behrman, 1971: Prostaglandin-induced myometrial activity inhibited by progesterone. Nature (London) 232, 627 628.
- Pratt, N. C. and R. D. Lisk, 1989: Effects of social stress during early pregnancy on litter size and sex ratio in the golden hamster (Mesocricetus auratus). J. Reprod. Fert. 87, 763 - 769.
- Prunier, A., C. Martin, A. M. Mounier, and M. Bonneau, 1993: Metabolic and endocrine changes associated with undernutrition in the peripubertal gilt. J. Anim. Sci. 71, 1887 - 1894.

- Ralt, D., M. Manor, A. Cohen-Dayag, I. Tur-Kaspa, I. Ben-Shlomo, A. Makler, I. Yuli, J. Dor, S. Blumemberg, S. Mashiach and M. Eisenbach, 1994: Chemotaxis and chemokinesis of human spermatozoa to follicular factors. Biol. Reprod. 50, 774 - 786.
- Raychoudhury, S. S. and S. S. Suarez, 1991: Porcine sperm binding to oviductal explants. Theriogenology 36, 1059 1070.
- Rodriguez-Martinez, H. and A. Kunavongkrit, 1983: Chronic venous catheterisation for frequent blood sampling in unrestrained pigs. Acta vet. scand. 24, 318 320.
- Rodriguez-Martinez, H. and S. Einarsson, 1985: Influence of prostaglandins on the spontaneous motility of the pig oviduct. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 8, 259 279.
- Rodriguez-Martinez, H., L. Nicander, S. Viring, S. Einarsson and K. Larsson, 1990: Ultrastructure of the utero-tubal junction in the pre-ovulatory pig. Anat. Histol. Embryol. 19, 16 - 36.
- Rojanasthien, S., 1988: LH-patterns in jugular and oestradiol-17 β and progesterone in utero-ovarian and jugular plasma of primiparous sows around weaning. J. Vet. Med. A 35, 498 505.
- Rojkittikhun, T., S. Einarsson, H. Zilinskas, L-E. Edqvist, K. Uvnäs-Moberg and N. Lundeheim, 1993a: Effect of insulin administration at weaning on hormonal patterns and reproductive performance in primiparous sows. J. Vet. Med. A 40, 161 - 168.
- Rojkittikhun, T., K. Uvnäs-Moberg and S. Einarsson, 1993b: Plasma oxytocin, prolactin, insulin and LH after 24 h of fasting and after refeeding in lactating sows. Acta. Physiol. Scand. 148, 413 - 419.
- Saksena, S. K. and M. J. K. Harper, 1975: Relationships between concentration of prostaglandin F (PGF) in the oviduct and egg transport. Biol. Reprod. 13, 68 - 76.
- Shille, V. M., I. Karlbom, S. Einarsson, K. Larsson, H. Kindahl and L-E. Edqvist, 1979: Concentrations of progesterone and 15-keto-13,14-dihydroprostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ in peripheral plasma during the oestrous cycle and early pregnancy in gilts. Zbl. Vet. Med. A 26, 169 - 181.
- Silver, M. and A. L. Fowden, 1982: Uterine prostaglandin F metabolite production in relation to glucose availability in late pregnancy and a possible influence of diet on time of delivery in the mare. J. Reprod. Fert. Suppl. 32, 511 519.
- Simonsson, A., 1994: Näringsrekommendationer och fodermedel till svin. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Research Information Centre, Husdjur 75, pp 71.
- Smith, T. T. and R. Yanagimachi, 1990: The viability of hamster spermatozoa stored in the isthmus of the oviduct: the importance of sperm-epithelium contact for sperm survival. Biol. Reprod. 42, 450 - 457.
- Smith, T. T., F. Konayagi and R. Yanagimachi, 1987: Distribution and number of spermatozoa in the oviduct of the golden hamster after natural mating and artificial insemination. Biol. Reprod. 37, 225 234.
- Soede, N. M., T. van der Lende, B. Kemp and M. de Koning, 1991: Assessment of the duration of ovulation in sows using ultrasonography. ARTA 2, 128-129.
- Soede, N. M., J. P. T. M. Noordhuizen and B. Kemp, 1992: The duration of ovulation in pigs studied by transrectal ultrasonography is not related to early embryonic diversity. Theriogenology 38, 653 - 666.
- Soede, N. M., F. A. Helmond and B. Kemp, 1994: Peri-ovulatory profiles of oestradiol, LH, progesterone in relation to oestrus and embryo mortality in multiparous sows using transrectal ultrasonography to detect ovulation. J. Reprod. Fertil. 101, 633-641.
- Spilman, C. H. and M. J. K. Harper, 1973: Effects of prostaglandins on oviductal motility in oestrous rabbits. Biol. Reprod. 9, 36 45.

- Stalheim, O. H. V., J. E. Gallagher and B. L. Deyoe, 1975: Scanning electron microscopy of the bovine, equine, porcine and caprine uterine tube (oviduct). Am. J. Vet. Res. 36, 1069 - 1075.
- Statistical Analysis Inc., 1987: SAS/STAT®. Guide for personal computers, version 6 Edition, Cary, NC, SAS institute Inc.
- Statistical Analysis Systems Institute Inc., 1989: SAS/STAT® User's guide, version 6, fourth edition, volume 2, Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc.
- Sterning, M., L. Rydhmer, S. Einarsson, and K. Andersson, 1994. Oestrous symptoms in primiparous sow. Duration and intensity of external oestrous symptoms. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 36, 305-314.
- Suarez, S. S., 1987: Sperm transport and motility in the mouse oviduct: observation in situ. Biol. Reprod. 36, 203 -210.
- Symonds, H. W. and G. R. Prime, 1989: The influence of food intake by gilts in portal vein and clearance of progesterone from plasma. Anim. Prod. 48, 620.
- Thibault, C., 1973: Sperm transport and storage in vertebrates. J. Reprod. Fertil. Suppl. 18, 39 53.
- Tsuma, V.T., 1995: Clinical and endocrine studies in primiparous sows. Effects of weaning during lactation and group housing and fasting during early pregnancy. PhD. Thesis, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala.
- Tsuma, V.T., S. Einarsson, A. Madej, H. Kindahl, and N. Lundeheim, 1996: Effect of food deprivation during early pregnancy on endocrine changes in primiparous sows. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 41, 267 - 278.
- Yanagimachi, R., 1969: In vitro capacitation of hamster spermatozoa by follicular fluid. J. Reprod Fertil. 18, 275 - 286.
- Yanagimachi, R., 1976: The sperm acrosome reaction and fertilization in the guinea pig: a study in vitro. J. Reprod. Fertil. 46, 49 - 54.
- van der Lende, T., N. M. Soede and B. V. Kemp, 1994: Embryo mortality and prolificacy in the pig. In D. A. Cole, J. Wiseman and M. A. Valey (eds.). Principles of pig science p 297 - 317. Nottingham University Press, Nottingham, U. K.
- Viring, S., S. Einarsson, L. Nicander, and K. Larsson, 1980: Localisation of the sperm reservoir at the utero-tubal junction of the pig. Proc. 9th Int. Congr. on Anim. Reprod. and A. I., 16 - 20 June 1980, Madrid, Vol. 5, 224-227.
- Weber, J. A., D. A. Freeman, D. K. Vanderwall and G. L. Woods, 1991: Prostaglandin E₂ secretion by oviductal transport-stage equine embryos. Biol. Reprod. 45, 540 543.
- Wiebold, J. L., P. H. Stanfield, W. C. Becker and J. K. Hillers, 1986: The effect of restraint stress in early pregnancy in mice. J. Reprod. Fert. 78, 185 192.
- Wu, A. S. H., S. D. Carlson and N. L. First, 1976: Scanning electron microscopic study of the porcine oviduct and uterus. J. Anim. Sci. 42, 804 - 809.

Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae

presents doctoral theses from the faculty of agriculture, landscape architecture and horticulture, the faculty of forestry and the faculty of veterinary medicine at the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Each faculty has its own subseries, Agraria, Silvestria and Veterinaria, respectively, with separate numbering.

ISSN 1401-6257 ISBN 91-576-5426-3